THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Nov 12 2020

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000986

INTRODUCTION

This appeal presents the question of whether the Circuit Court has jurisdiction on remittitur to construe a South Carolina Supreme Court decision such that it, in effect, reinstates a previous Circuit Court ruling that the Supreme Court reversed. In addition, if so, this Court must answer the questions of how parties to the action (and others) are to determine whether they are bound by the Supreme Court decision or the conflicting Circuit Court ruling and, ultimately, how long a dissatisfied party can continue to litigate a claim after the Supreme Court has ruled against it.

Specifically, the subjects of this appeal are this Court’s prior Opinion number 27731, *Protestant Episcopal Church in the Diocese of S.C. v. The Episcopal Church*, 421 S.C. 211, 806 S.E.2d 82 (2017) (the “Supreme Court Ruling”) – a decision which reversed a Circuit Court Order by Judge Diane Goodstein that ruled in favor of Respondents on all issues (Order; R. p. ___) (the “Goodstein Order”) – and a Circuit Court Order by Judge Edgar Dickson that purported to interpret and “clarify” the Supreme Court Ruling but ultimately, like the Goodstein Order, ruled in favor of Respondents on all issues¹ (Order; R. p. ___) (the “Dickson Order”).

This matter has a lengthy procedural history and numerous parties, many of whom have names that can be confusingly similar to those of other parties. For the sake of convenience and simplicity, Appellants refer to the parties by the names below (unless referring to Appellants or

¹ Judge Dickson did decline Respondents’ invitation to rule on trademark, service mark, and intellectual property issues. However, because Respondents did not appeal that ruling and those topics are being litigated in federal court, they are not directly relevant to the instant appeal. *See infra* n.4.

Respondents, collectively), which are based on the terms defined in the lead opinion of the Supreme Court Ruling, *Protestant Episcopal Church*, 421 S.C. at 215, 806 S.E.2d at 84:

- TEC – Appellant The Episcopal Church a/k/a The Protestant Episcopal Church in the United States of America; the Supreme Court Ruling also sometimes referred to it as the “National Church.”
- Associated Diocese – Appellant The Episcopal Church in South Carolina, sometimes referred to as “TECSC” (the diocese which remains associated with TEC).
- Disassociated Diocese – Respondent The Protestant Episcopal Church in the Diocese of South Carolina² (which disassociated itself from TEC); the Supreme Court Ruling also sometimes referred to it as the “Breakaway Diocese.”
- Trustees – The Trustees of the Protestant Episcopal Church in South Carolina.
- Parishes – Thirty-six individual parishes aligned with the Disassociated Diocese, all of which were parties to the Supreme Court Ruling, that are subdivided as follows:
 - Respondent Parishes – Twenty-nine parishes that are Respondents to this appeal.
 - Other Parishes – Seven parishes that are no longer parties to this dispute based upon the Supreme Court Ruling.³

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court exceed its limited jurisdiction on remittitur by reinstating a declaratory judgment that the Supreme Court had reversed?
2. Did the Circuit Court err in failing to follow the result of the Supreme Court’s judgment as the law of the case, reviewing evidentiary support for that judgment, and considering whether issues decided by the Supreme Court had been preserved for appellate review?
3. Did the Circuit Court err in finding this Court deprived the Respondents of due process?

² The Disassociated Diocese has now renamed itself “The Anglican Diocese of South Carolina.”

³ The division reflects the different treatment of the Parishes in the Supreme Court Ruling. *See Protestant Episcopal Church*, 421 S.C. at 248 n.27, 806 S.E.2d at 102 n.27 (defining the two groups of Parishes); *see also* Petition for Writ of Certiorari to U.S. Supreme Court, p. 8 (R. p. __) (wherein Respondent Parishes identified themselves as 29 of the original 36 Plaintiff Parishes).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

While the dispute that spawned this action has a protracted history and the litigation itself has traveled a lengthy path, the present appeal is not concerned with everything that happened along the journey. Instead, this appeal focuses upon several important milestones.

The first events that help put this appeal in context are the parties' pleadings. Respondents filed this action on January 4, 2013, seeking declaratory relief.⁴ Specifically, they sought a declaration that Appellants have no right, title, or interest in certain property consisting of real and personal property of the Parishes ("Parish Property") as well as personal and real property – including Camp St. Christopher – held in trust by the Trustees for the benefit of the Diocese of South Carolina⁵ (the "Diocesan Property"). (Second Amended Complaint, ¶ 494; R. p. __, ¶ 494). Appellants counterclaimed to have the court declare their interests in the Parish Property and the Diocesan Property. (TEC's Answer and Counterclaims to Second Am. Complaint, p. 97, ¶ d; R. p. __, ¶ d; TECSC's Answer and Counterclaims to Second Am. Complaint, p. 78, ¶ 615; R. p. __, ¶ 615). In their Counterclaims, Appellants alleged an Episcopal Church rule, Canon I.7(4) and (5) (commonly called the "Dennis Canon") confirmed their interests in the Parish Property. (TEC's Answer and Counterclaims to Second Am. Complaint, p. 46, ¶ 32; R. p. __, ¶ 32; TECSC's Answer and Counterclaims to Second Am. Complaint, p. 67, ¶ 585; R. p. __, ¶ 585). Respondents denied

⁴ Respondents also sought injunctive relief regarding trademark, service mark, and intellectual property issues. While the Goodstein Order ruled in favor of Respondents on that claim, the Supreme Court Ruling determined that it should be litigated in federal court (in fact, the parties tried the trademark, service mark, and intellectual property issues before United States District Judge Richard Gergel and his ruling is now on appeal). The Dickson Order agreed those issues should be resolved in federal court. Because of the Supreme Court Ruling on this topic, as well as the Dickson Order regarding it (which Respondents did not appeal), the claim for injunctive relief is no longer part of this action. Consequently, Appellants disregard the claim when discussing the procedural history of and rulings in this matter.

⁵ Both the Associated Diocese and the Disassociated Diocese claimed to be this beneficiary.

the Dennis Canon was applicable to them and alleged their rights should be governed by South Carolina law. (*See, e.g.*, Disassociated Diocese’s Reply to TEC’s Counterclaims, p. 4, ¶ 9; R. p. __, ¶ 9; Disassociated Diocese’s Reply to TECSC’s Counterclaims, p. 3, ¶ 7; R. p. __, ¶ 7).

The next important milestone is the initial Circuit Court ruling on the merits. Following a bench trial, Judge Diane Goodstein issued an Order on February 3, 2015, ruling that Appellants had no interest in the Parish Property or the Diocesan Property and dismissing Appellants’ counterclaims. (Goodstein Order, pp. 44, 46; R. pp. __).

At trial, Judge Goodstein received evidence regarding the Dennis Canon. In her Order, she expressly addressed – and rejected – Appellants’ claim that they were the beneficiaries of an express trust based on the Parishes’ accession to the Dennis Canon:

The claims of an express trust arises [sic] out of the same provision that was at issue in *All Saints [Parish Waccamaw v. Protestant Episcopal Church in the Diocese of S.C.]* 385 S.C. [428] at 437, 449, 685 S.E.2d [163] at 168, 174. The “Dennis Canon” is found both in the TEC canons and was also in the Diocese [sic] canons before its removal in 2010. The Defendants assert that any parish churches [sic] governing documents, which voluntarily agreed to TEC's constitution and canons would constitute an express trust under South Carolina law.

...

The Dennis Canon created no express trust of which TEC was the beneficiary.

...

As to the parish churches, there was nothing consensual between TEC and the parish churches in the process used to adopt [the Dennis Canon], much less that it was subsequently “embodied in some legally cognizable form.”

(Goodstein Order, pp. 34, 35; R. pp. __). Judge Goodstein also ruled that Appellants had “no legal basis” to claim control over the Diocesan Property and that the Diocesan Property was not subject to a trust interest in favor of Appellants. (Goodstein Order, pp. 33-37; R. pp. __).

On March 26, 2015, Appellants appealed the Goodstein Order. (Notice of App.; R. p. __).

Of primary significance to the present appeal is this Court’s ruling on that appeal. The official slip opinion of the Supreme Court Ruling, issued on August 2, 2017, stated in its caption

that the Court “Reversed in Part and Affirmed in Part” the Goodstein Order. (Slip Op., p. 2; R. p. ___).

The Court’s lead opinion, authored by Acting Justice Pleicones, detailed reasons to “reverse the entire [Goodstein] order,” *Protestant Episcopal Church*, 421 S.C. at 214, 806 S.E.2d at 84, and specifically to reverse its finding that “the Disassociated Diocese, the Trustees, and parishes controlled or owned the disputed real and personal property.” *Id.* at 230, 806 S.E.2d at 92.

Immediately following Acting Justice Pleicones’ opinion, the slip opinion delineated the other Justices’ positions in relation to the lead opinion, stating:

HEARN, J., concurring in a separate opinion. BEATTY, C.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part in a separate opinion. KITTREDGE, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part in a separate opinion. Acting Justice Jean H. Toal dissenting in a separate opinion.

(Slip Op., p. 20; R. p. ___).

Consistent with this summary, Justice Hearn stated she “concur[red] fully” with the lead opinion, *id.* at 232, 806 S.E.2d at 93, and found “the Appellants [are] entitled to all property, including Camp Saint Christopher.” *Id.* at 248, 806 S.E.2d at 101.

Also in keeping with the Court’s summary of opinions, Chief Justice Beatty concurred with Acting Justice Pleicones and Justice Hearn with respect to their judgment relating to the Respondent Parishes’ property and the Diocesan Property; however, he dissented with respect to property of the Other Parishes.⁶

⁶To provide clarity regarding Parish Property, Justice Hearn noted: “I join Acting Justice Pleicones and Chief Justice Beatty in reversing the trial court as to the twenty-nine parishes that documented their reaffirmation to the National Church [*i.e.*, the Respondent Parishes], but Chief Justice Beatty joins Acting Justice Toal and Justice Kittredge with respect to the remaining seven parishes [*i.e.*, the Other Parishes].” *Protestant Episcopal Church*, 421 S.C. at 248 n.27, 806 S.E.2d at 102 n.27.

Respondents filed a Petition for Rehearing on September 1, 2017. (Petition for Rehearing; R. p. ___). Their petition characterized the Supreme Court Ruling as “erroneous” and admitted the Court “reversed” the Goodstein Order. (*See, e.g.*, Petition for Rehearing, pp. 16, 22; R. pp. ___). Specifically, Respondents acknowledged Chief Justice Beatty agreed with Acting Justice Pleicones and Justice Hearn regarding the property of the Respondent Parishes (Petition for Rehearing, pp. 23-24; R. pp. ___) and with respect to the Diocesan Property. (Petition for Rehearing, pp. 34-35; R. pp. ___).

In addition, on September 6, 2017, Respondent Church of the Good Shepherd filed a separate Petition for Rehearing (Petition for Rehearing of Church of G.S.; R. p. ___) asserting error because “three judges” [sic] of the Supreme Court erred in ruling against it. (Petition for Rehearing of Church of G.S., pp. 3, 15; R. pp. ___)

Consistent with Respondents’ request that the Court recuse Justice Hearn (Motion to Recuse, etc.; R. p. ___), Justice Hearn did not participate in the ruling on the Petitions for Rehearing. (Order denying Petition for Rehearing, p. 2; R. p. ____). On November 17, 2017, this Court denied both Petitions for Rehearing via an Order signed by all four remaining members of the Court, which stated:

In light of the above, the petitions for rehearing have failed to receive a majority vote. Therefore, the petitions for rehearing have been denied, and the opinions previously filed in this case reflect the final decision of this Court. The Clerk of this Court shall send the remittitur.

(Order denying Petitions for Rehearing, p. 2; R. p. ____). That “final decision” “Reversed in Part and Affirmed in Part” the Goodstein Order. Because the affirmance related to the Other Parishes – which are no longer involved in this case – the Supreme Court Ruling should be reduced to “Reversed” for present purposes.

The matter was thus remitted to the Circuit Court, where it was assigned to Judge Edgar Dickson. (Form 4 Order entered Jan. 10, 2018; R. p. ____).

Thereafter, on February 9, 2018, Respondents petitioned the United States Supreme Court for a Writ of Certiorari. (Petition for Writ of Cert.; R. p. ____). Respondents acknowledged that this Court, “in a 3-2 decision, held that a trust could exist in favor of [TEC and the Associated Diocese]” with respect to the Parish Property at issue,⁷ conceded that they had “lost” before this Court, and argued that the Supreme Court Ruling “must be reversed.” (Petition for Writ of Cert., pp. 3, 18, 38; R. pp. ____). Specifically, they summarized their request for review as follows:

Petitioners [the Respondents here] seek review of the judgment below that parishes that allegedly acceded to the Dennis Canon hold their property in trust for the national church. [TEC and the Associated Diocese] prevailed on this question by a 3-2 majority comprising Acting Justice Pleicones, Justice Hearn, and Chief Justice Beatty.

(Reply Brief regarding Petition for Writ of Cert., pp. 4-5; R. pp. ____).

On June 11, 2018, the United States Supreme Court denied Respondents’ Petition. (Letter from Supreme Court of the U.S., Office of the Clerk; R. p. ____).

Following remittitur from this Court, the parties filed in the Circuit Court three motions relevant to this appeal.

First, on March 23, 2018, Respondents filed a Motion for Clarification of Jurisdiction and for Other Relief (Motion for Clarification; R. p. ____), which they supplemented on September 24, 2018 (Supp. to Motion for Clarification; R. p. ____) (collectively, “Motion for Clarification”). In this motion, they asked the Circuit Court to clarify the Supreme Court Ruling and to decide factual issues – particularly the express trust issue – that the Supreme Court Ruling purportedly “did not decide.” (Supp. to Motion for Clarification, p. 3; R. p. ____; *see also* Memo. in Supp. of Motion for

⁷ Respondents did not ask the United States Supreme Court to review the Supreme Court Ruling as to the Diocesan Property.

Clarification; R. p. __; Reply to Brief in Opp. to Motion for Clarification; R. p. __; and Supp. Memo. in Supp. of Motion for Clarification; R. p. __). Appellants opposed the motion. (*See generally* Brief in Opp. to Motion for Clarification; R. p. __).

Next, on May 8, 2018, Appellants filed a Petition for Execution and Further Relief on Declaratory Judgments of the South Carolina Supreme Court and for the Appointment of a Special Master (Petition for Execution; R. p. __), which they amended on May 16, 2018 (Amended Petition for Execution; R. p. __) (collectively, “Petition for Execution”). In this petition, Appellants asked the Circuit Court to carry out the result of the Supreme Court Ruling by replacing the Trustees with individuals elected by the Associated Diocese, transferring title of the Parish Property of the Respondent Parishes to Appellants, and appointing a Special Master to oversee the transition process. (Memo. in Supp. of Petition for Execution, pp. 5-6, 9, 12; R. pp. __). Respondents opposed the Petition for Execution. (*See generally* Response in Opp. to Petition for Execution; R. p. __).

Third, on July 11, 2018, Appellants filed a Petition for an Accounting (Petition for Accounting; R. p. __), in which they asked the Circuit Court to appoint an accounting firm, as experts, to identify the assets to be delivered by Respondents to Appellants consistent with the Supreme Court Ruling and to determine any compensation due to Appellants as a result of Respondents’ wrongful possession and control of those assets since the initiation of this action. (Memo. in Supp. of Petition for Accounting, pp. 2-3; R. pp. __). Respondents also opposed this Petition. (*See generally* Response in Opp. to Petition for Accounting; R. p. __).

In addition to these motions and the memoranda referenced above, the parties submitted to the court various other materials related to the motions. (Appellants’ Omnibus Reply Brief; R. p.

___⁸; Appellants’ attorneys’ letter of Nov. 25, 2019; R. p. ___; Respondents’ attorney’s letter of May 25, 2020; R. p. ___; Associated Diocese’s attorney’s letter of June 1, 2020; R. p. ___).

The Circuit Court held several hearings after remittitur. Each hearing consisted of the arguments of counsel but none involved the introduction of evidence; rather, the only evidence considered by the Circuit Court was the original record. (Dickson Order, pp. 23, 41; R. p. ___).

Judge Dickson held the first hearing on November 19, 2018. There, he addressed the Motion for Clarification but no other motions. (Transcript of Nov. 19, 2018 hearing, p. 48; R. p. ___). He took the motion under advisement and stated: “I’m going to ask y’all follow up questions by email. Those emails and your responses are going to be part of the record in this case....” (Transcript of Nov. 19, 2018 hearing, p. 47; R. p. ___). Judge Dickson thereafter sent emails indicating he was reviewing the five Justices’ opinions in the Supreme Court Ruling for agreement and was considering evidence in the previous record regarding the Respondent Parishes’ accession to the Dennis Canon. (Emails dated Jan. 8, 2019 and Jan. 14, 2019; R. pp. ___).⁹

On March 20, 2019, because approximately sixteen months had elapsed since this Court denied Respondents’ Petition for Rehearing and Judge Dickson had not yet ruled on the parties’ motions, Appellants filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus asking this Court to direct the Circuit Court to enforce the Supreme Court Ruling. (Petition for Writ of Mandamus, p. 1; R. p. ___). On June 28, 2019, the Court issued an order that did not address the merits of the parties’ positions but instead stated:

⁸ One of the topics addressed in this brief was Appellants’ Motion to Dismiss a separate action filed by Respondents after the Supreme Court Ruling (the “betterment action”). The betterment action is not involved in this appeal.

⁹ Judge Dickson later requested “exact citations in the trial record where each parish expressly acceded to the 1979 Dennis Canon” and requested an explanation of “exactly what was appealed from the [Goodstein] order.” (Email dated Feb. 6, 2020; R. p. ___).

[W]e are confident that [Judge Dickson] will resolve the petition to enforce the judgment, as well as any related matters that are pending, in an expeditious manner. As a result, we deny the petition for writ of mandamus.

(Order of June 28, 2019, p. 3; R. p. ___).

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