THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

**Feb 12 2021**

---

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000986

---

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

Appellants seek to perpetuate a result based on facts that were not included in the previous record on appeal and which depend on issues they either lost on appeal or issues that were not tried or were not appealed. They previously have argued that the previous appellate record was “incomplete” which produced a “fractured” result, legally and factually. Today, the facts determined by Judge Dickson from the *complete record* have not been appealed, nor complained about by Appellants. Hence, applying the factual result they argue this Court reached in 2017 would be clearly erroneous and manifestly unjust.

Appellants have known all along that the factual truth is that many parishes did not agree to TEC’s constitution and canons, many did not sign any “accession” document, and some did not “accede” to anything, much less the Dennis Canon with a signed writing. Dickson Or. at 25 & n. 25, 26, 27. Yet, they remain silent. Appellants do not want this Court to look at the actual facts or at the evidence. The majority of Appellants’ arguments are directed at keeping this Court from considering the complete record and the reasoning underlying the Collective Opinions. The implication of these arguments is that if the truth is otherwise, it is nevertheless held hostage to the

doctrine of the law of the case. That, however, is *not* the doctrine of the law of the case. The law of the case doctrine is not a tool to perpetuate error or promote injustice.<sup>42</sup>

Plainly stated, “when a court decides upon a *rule of law*, that decision should continue to govern the same issues in subsequent stages of the same case.” *Arizona v. California*, 460 U.S. 605, 618 (1983) (emphasis added).<sup>43</sup> The law of the case is a “rule of practice [which] promotes the finality and efficiency of the judicial process by protecting against the agitation of settled issues.” *Christianson v. Colt Industries Operating Corp.*, 486 U.S. 800, 816 (1988). However, “unlike the more precise requirements of *res judicata*, law of the case is an amorphous concept.” *Arizona*, 460 U.S. at 618. It “merely expresses the practice of courts generally” but it is “not a limit to their power.” *Messenger v. Anderson*, 225 U.S. 436, 444 (1912) (Holmes, J.).<sup>44</sup>

---

<sup>42</sup> The law of the case “must not be utilized to accomplish an obvious injustice....” *Cochran v. M & M Transp. Co.*, 110 F.2d 519, 512 (1st Cir. 1940) (citing *Messenger v. Anderson*, 225 U.S. 436 (1912)). “[T]he law of the case does demand obsequiousness right or wrong.” *Champaign-Urbana News Agency, Inc. v. J.L. Cummins News*, 632 F.2d 680, 683 (7th Cir. 1980). The law of the case doctrine “...is not a rule to perpetuate error and does not require a court to enter an erroneous judgment because the logic of an earlier erroneous ruling would require it.” 1B *Moore’s Federal Practice* ¶ 0.404 [1] at 126 (2d. ed. 1984) *quoted in Taveira v. Solomon*, 528 A. 2d 1105, 1108 (R.I. 1987)

<sup>43</sup> The mandate rule “is simply a specific application of the law of the case doctrine and, as such, is a discretionary-guiding rule subject to an occasional exception in the interests of justice,” *United States v. Bell*, 988 F.2d 247,251 (1st Cir. 1993).

<sup>44</sup> *Higgins v. California Prune & Apricot Grower*, 3 F.2d 896, 898 (2d Cir. 1924). (“it is now well settled that the ‘law of the case’ does not rigidly bind a court to its former decisions, but is only addressed to its good sense.”); *Public Interest Research Group of New Jersey, Inc. v. Magnesium Elektron, Inc.*, 123 F.3d 111, 116 (3d Cir.1997) (“the law of the case doctrine does not restrict a court's power but rather governs its exercise of discretion.”); *Hanover Ins. Co. v. Am. Eng'g Co.*, 105 F.3d 306, 312 (6th Cir. 1997), (the “law of the case” doctrine is “directed to a court's common sense” and is not an “inexorable command.”); *Millers' Mut. Fire Ins. Ass'n of Illinois v. Bell*, 99 F.2d 289, 292 (8th Cir. 1938). (The law of the case “does not have the effect of placing the issues, the evidence, or even the applicable rules of law, in a strait-jacket.”); *United States v. Alexander*, 106 F.3d 874, 876 (9th Cir. 1997). (“The doctrine is not a limitation on a tribunal's power, but rather a guide to discretion.”); *Searle v. Allstate Life Ins. Co.*, 696 P.2d 1308, 1314 (Cal. 1985); (“Where there are exceptional circumstances, a court which is looking to a just determination of the rights of the parties to the litigation and not merely to rules of practice, may and should decide the case without regard to what has gone before.”).

Simply stated, it is a “discretionary appellate doctrine.” *State v. Hewins*, 409 S.C. 93, 113 n.5, 760 S.E.2d 814, 824 n. 5 (2014) (Beatty, J.); *accord, Arizona*, 460 U.S. at 618 (The law of the case “directs a court’s discretion, it does not limit the tribunal’s power.”); *Atkins v. Wilson*, 417 S.C. 3, 17 n. 12, 788 S.E.2d 228, 235 n.12 (Ct. App. 2016) (“Law of the case...operates as a discretionary rule of practice and not one of law”; “So long as the same case remains alive, there is power to alter or revoke earlier rulings.” (citations omitted)); *Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 413 S.C. 561, 571-75 n.6, 776 S.E.2d 397, 403-05 n.6 (Ct. App. 2015). The law of the case applies to a “rule of law” actually decided. It does not apply to dicta and appellate statements about an unpreserved issue or dicta. *Weil v. Weil*, 299 S.C. 84, 89, 382 S.E.2d 471, 473 (Ct. App. 1989). In addition, as relied upon by Judge Dickson, quoting *Flexon*, there are three circumstances when a prior legal ruling in the same case must be reconsidered: when (1) the evidence is substantially different, (2) controlling authority has changed, or (3) the decision was clearly erroneous and would work a manifest injustice. *Flexon*, 413 S.C. at 573, 776 S.E.2d at 404.

These three exceptions to the discretionary application of a rule of law previously determined in the same case are recognized by the United States Supreme Court, every federal circuit, and every state that has directly considered the issue.<sup>45</sup> Appellants apparently believe that

---

<sup>45</sup> *Arizona v. California*, 460 U.S. 605, 618, n. 8 (1983); *Agostini v. Felton*, 521 U.S. 203, 236 (1997); *Naser Jewelers, Inc. v. City of Concord, N.H.*, 538 F.3d 17, 20 (1st Cir. 2008); *Higgins v. Cal. Prune & Apricot Grower*, 3 F.2d 896, 898 (2d Cir. 1924); *In re City of Philadelphia Litig.*, 158 F.3d 711, 718 (3d Cir. 1998); *United States v. Lentz*, 524 F.3d 501, 528 (4th Cir. 2008); *White v. Murtha*, 377 F.2d 428, 431-32 (5th Cir. 1967); *Hanover Ins. Co. v. Am. Eng’g Co.*, 105 F.3d 306, 312 (6th Cir. 1997); *Payne for Hicks v. Churchich*, 161 F.3d 1030, 1037 n.8 (7th Cir. 1998); *Millers’ Mut. Fire Ins. Ass’n of Ill. v. Bell*, 99 F.2d 289, 292 (8th Cir. 1938); *United States v. Alexander*, 106 F.3d 874, 876 (9th Cir. 1997); *Fish v. Schwab*, 957 F.3d 1105, 1139-40 (10th Cir. 2020); *Klay v. All Defendants*, 389 F.3d 1191, 1197-98 (11th Cir. 2004); *Toro Co. v. White Consol. Indus., Inc.*, 383 F.3d 1326, 1336 (Fed. Cir. 2004); *S.E.C. v. Bilzerian*, No. 11-5337, 2012 WL 1922465, at \*1 (D.C. Cir. May 11, 2012); *Moody v. Lodge*, 433 P.3d 1173, 1178 (Alaska 2018); *Pierson v. City of Topeka*, 424 P.3d 549, 556 (Kan. Ct. App. 2018); *Gay v. Hartford Underwriters Ins. Co.*, 904 P.2d 83, 88 (Okla. 1995); *Folsom v. Cty. of Spokane*, 759 P.2d 1196, 1200-01 (Wash.

this Court does not, or would not, agree with the virtually universal application of these exceptions since they argue, ironically, that this “*nil ultra*” Court lacks the power to review its decision. Appellants rely exclusively on the 1969 decision of *Huggins v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 252 S.C. 353, 357, 166 S.E.2d 297, 299 (1969): “**This Court is precluded from reviewing its own law of the case.**” App. Br. at 20. Of course the law of the case, is “not a limit to [a court’s] power,” *Messenger* 225 U.S. at 444, but it is a “discretionary appellate doctrine,” *Hewins*, 409 S.C. at 113 n.5, 760 S.E.2d at 824 n. 5. Not only do Appellants miscite *Huggins*, but they also do not inform the Court of its other decisions which are consistent with the federal and state court decisions noted above.

---

1988); *Searle v. Allstate Life Ins. Co.*, 696 P.2d 1308, 1314 (Cal. 1985); *Logsdon v. Duncan*, 316 S.W.2d 488, 491 (Mo. 1958); *Commonwealth v. Koehler*, 229 A.3d 915, 938-39 (Pa. 2020); *BTU W. Res., Inc. v. Berenergy Corp.*, 442 P.3d 50, 57-58 (Wyo. 2019); *Doyle v. Doyle*, 549 S.W.3d 450, 455 (Ky. 2018); *Kitras v. Town of Aquinnah*, 49 N.E.3d 198, 210 (Mass. 2016); *Total Recycling Servs. of Ct., Inc. v. Connecticut Oil Recycling Servs., LLC*, 63 A.3d 896, 902 (Conn. 2013); *McLaughlin v. Schenk*, 299 P.3d 1139, 1144-45 (Utah 2013); *Gray’s Disposal Co. v. Metro. Gov’t of Nashville*, 318 S.W.3d 342, 348 (Tenn. 2010); *State v. Langley*, 958 So.2d 1160, 1163-64 (La. 2007); *State v. Owen*, 696 So.2d 715, 720 (Fla. 1997); *People of City of Aurora, by & on Behalf of State v. Allen*, 885 P.2d 207, 212 (Colo. 1994); *Stokes v. Am. Airlines, Inc.*, 790 A.2d 699, 702-03 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2002); *Lynn v. Lynn*, 617 A.2d 963, 970 (D.C. 1992); *Morse v. Morse*, 213 A.2d 581, 583 (D.C. 1965); *Lurie v. Wolin*, 86 N.E.3d 1185, 1192 (Ill. Ct. App. 2017); *Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 413 S.C. at 573-75, 776 S.E.2d at 404-05; *Collins v. Indart-Etienne*, 72 N.Y.S.3d 332, 349 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2018); *Cordova v. Larsen*, 94 P.3d 830, 834 (N.M. Ct. App. 2004); *E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. v. Admiral Ins. Co.*, 711 A.2d 45, 55 (Del. Super. Ct. 1995); *Turner v. Nw. Arkansas Neurosurgery Clinic, P.A.*, 210 S.W.3d 126, 133 (Ark. Ct. App. 2005); *Bergkamp v. Martin*, 759 P.2d 941, 942-43 (Idaho Ct. App. 1988); *State v. Larrivee*, 481 A.2d 782, 783 (Me. 1984); *Lee v. Thompson*, 167 So.3d 170, 177 (Miss. 2014); *Carlson v. N. Pac. Ry. Co.*, 281 P. 913, 914 (Mont. 1929); *Harris v. Cent. Power Co.*, 197 N.W. 383, 383-84 (Neb. 1924); *Polidori v. Kordys, Puzio & Di Tomasso, AIA*, 549 A.2d 1254, 1257-58 (N.J. App. Div. 1988); *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 2007 WL 4216975, ¶¶ 42-43 (Ohio 6th Dist. Ct. App. 2007); *Taveira v. Solomon*, 528 A.2d 1105, 1108 (R.I. 1987); *Kneebinding, Inc. v. Howell*, 201 A.3d 326, 341 (Vt. 2018); *State ex rel. Frazier & Oxley, L.C. v. Cummings*, 591 S.E.2d 728, 738 (W. Va. 2003); *Radwill v. Manor Care of Westmont, IL, LLC*, 986 N.E.2d 765, 769 (Ill. Ct. App. 2013); *Hsu v. Cty. of Clark*, 173 P.3d 724, 729-30 (Nev. 2007); *McCrea v. Cubilla Condo. Corp., N.V.*, 769 S.W.2d 261, 263 (Tex. App. 1988).

Appellants' application of *Huggins* is inconsistent with other decisions of this Court since 1969. In the 1987 decision of *Barth v. Barth*, 293 S.C. 305, 308, 360 S.E.2d 309, 310 (1987), this Court stated an appellate court could reexamine its previous opinion in the same case if it was "convinced that the first decision was wrong." More recently, this Court in a 2000 per curiam decision inferred that *Barth* corrected *Huggins*. *Charleston Lumber Co., Inc. v. Miller Housing Corp.*, 338 S.C. 171, 174 n.3, 525 S.E.2d 869, 872 n.3 (2000) ("*Charleston Lumber III*").<sup>46</sup> Finally, this Court has for many years recognized that the law of the case does not apply where the facts are substantially different in the second appeal. *See e.g., Nelson v. Charleston & Western Carolina Railway Co.*, 231 S.C. 351, 357, 98 S.E.2d 798, 800 (1957); *Cohen v. Standard Acc. Ins. Co.* 17 S.C. 230, 234, 203 S.E.2d 263 (1941) ("if the facts are different... a prior decision is not conclusive upon questions presented on the subsequent appeal.")

Furthermore, it is apparent that *Huggins* applied a *res judicata* principle to a law of the case issue.<sup>47</sup> The "internal quote," omitted from Appellants' *Huggins*' quotation, is "See cases collected in West's South Carolina Digest, Appeal and Error, [key] 1097 and [key] 1099". *Huggins*, 252 S.C. at 357, 166 S.E.2d at 299. The cases collected there involve both the doctrines of law of the case *and* *res judicata*. As this Court stated in *Charleston Lumber III*, in reversing the Court of Appeals decision in *Charleston Lumber II*,<sup>48</sup> *res judicata* does not apply when the subsequent proceeding is in the same case; it only applies to proceedings between the same parties in a

---

<sup>46</sup> "Arguably, *Charleston Lumber II* could have considered whether *Charleston Lumber I* was correct in reversing the grant of summary judgment, but it did not do so." *Charleston Lumber III*, 338 S.C. at 174 n.3, 525 S.E. 2d at 872 n.3. This Court then compared the quotes from *Barth* with those from *Huggins*.

<sup>47</sup> The section Appellants quote infers as much: "The questions therein decided are *res judicata*..." *Id.*

<sup>48</sup> *Charleston Lumber Co. v. Miller Housing Corp.*, 329 S.C. 414, 496 S.E.2d 637 (Ct. App. 1998) ("*Charleston Lumber II*").

different case. *Charleston Lumber Co. III*, 338 S.C. at 175 n.4, 525 S.E.2d at 872 n.4.<sup>49</sup> The doctrine of res judicata does not allow the same court *in a different action* to correct its previous decision (it may however overrule it). The law of the case doctrine does not have that prohibition. *Arizona*, 460 U.S. at 617-18. As Justice Holmes recognized in 1912, the law of the case is not a hindrance to making a wrong decision “right.” *Messenger*, 225 U.S. at 443-44.

***i. The “result” Appellants argue the Collective Opinions reached depends on issues that were either decided against them by this Court or were not preserved in their first appeal.***

The circuit court (Dickson, J.) necessarily considered preservation of error rules because they are component parts of the law-of-the-case doctrine. Dickson Or. 6-7. If the party asserting the law of the case doctrine did not preserve the issue by (1) raising it in the circuit court or the circuit court did not rule on it, or (2) make it an issue in their statement of issues or did not raise the issue in their initial brief, then the law of the case doctrine works against it (not for it) in a subsequent appeal. Issues not “raised to and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.” *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142-43, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003). “No point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal.” *Id.* at 142, 587 S.E. 2d at 694 (citations omitted); *Dreher v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 412 S.C. 244, 250, 772 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2015) (“should the appealing party fail to raise all of the grounds upon which a lower court’s decision was based, those unappealed findings—whether correct or not—become the law of the case”); *Shirley’s Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) (“An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance”). Issues not

---

<sup>49</sup> The Court of Appeals in *Charleston Lumber II*, (which was the same case before the appellate court a second time) relying on *Huggins*, mixed the two doctrines. 329 S.C. 414, 419-20, 496 S.E.2d 637, 639-640. This Court corrected that misunderstanding in its n.4 explanation and in its reversal of *Charleston Lumber II*. *Charleston Lumber III*, 338 S.C. at 175, 525 S.E.2d at 872.

considered by the trial court cannot be considered by an appellate court as the basis of its decision. *Dunbar*, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E. 2d at 694 (“An issue that was not preserved for review should not be addressed by the Court of Appeals, and the court's opinion should be vacated to the extent it addressed an issue that was not preserved.”)<sup>50</sup>

***1. This Court did not reverse Judge Goodstein’s entire order***

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